Kramer and Associates
542 4th A venue, Suite 207
Fairbanks, AK 99701
(907) 888-4098
(907) 374-3829 - facsimile

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF ALASKA
FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT AT FAIRBANKS

FARTHEST NORTH GIRL SCOUT COUNCIL,
an Alaska nonprofit corporation,
RUSS SHARPTON, and SUELLEN NELLES,
Plaintiffs,
v.
GIRL SCOUTS OF THE UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA, a District of Columbia nonprofit
corporation,
Defendant.
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VERIFIED COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, Farthest North Girl Scout Council, Russ Sharpton and Suellen Nelles,
complain of the Defendant, Girl Scouts of the United States of America, as follows:

PARTIES
1.

Farthest North Girl Scout Council ("Farthest North"), is an Alaska nonprofit

corporation, having its principal place of business in Fairbanks, Alaska. It is a Girl Scout council.
2.

Russ Sharpton is an individual residing in Fairbanks, Alaska. Mr. Sharpton is a

member of the Girl Scout Movement and is the Chair of Farthest North's volunteer board of
directors.
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3.

Suellen Nelles is an individual residing in Fairbanks, Alaska. Ms. Nelles is a

member of the Girl Scout Movement and is Farthest North's Executive Director.
4.

Girl Scouts of the United States of America ("GSUSA"), is a District of Columbia

nonprofit corporation, and has its principal place of business in New York, New York.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5.

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to AS §22.10.020.

6.

Venue lies in this Court pursuant to Alaska R. Civ. P. 3(d).
FACTS APPLICABLE TO ALL COUNTS

7.

The "purpose of GSUSA is to promote the Girl Scout Movement in the United

States ... by directing and coordinating the Movement and by providing and administering the
Girl Scout program in accordance with the purposes set forth in its Congressional Charter."
Const. at Art. II.
8.

Farthest North is the chartered Girl Scout council responsible for delivering Girl

Scouting in Fairbanks and all of Alaska within its jurisdiction and territory lying north of the 63rd
parallel. A copy of Farthest North's Girl Scout Council Charter Agreement is attached hereto as
Exhibit 1.
9.

Between 2014 and 2017, Farthest North has annually served and provided Girl

Scouting to-on average-1,182 girl and adult members who reside within Farthest North's
jurisdiction.
10.

The internal governance of GSUSA is controlled by its Congressional Charter and

its Constitution, copies of which are attached hereto, respectively, as Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3.
11.

The membership of GSUSA consists of the members of the National Council of

GSUSA. Const. at Art. IV,§ 1.
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12.

Tue National Council is the governing body of GSUSA. Cong'l Charter at§

13.

To be a member of the National Council, one must be a member of the Girl Scout

80303.

Movement. Const. at Art. IV,§ 3.
14.

Membership in the National Council includes delegates elected by local Girl

Scout councils. Const. at Art. IV, § 4(a).
15.

Mr. Sharpton and Ms. Nelles are members of the Girl Scout Movement and they

are delegates to the National Council. As delegates to the National Council, Mr. Sharpton and
Ms. Nelles are members of the National Council and of GSUSA.
16.

No girl or adult may be a member of the Girl Scout Movement or participate in

Girl Scouting without paying dues to GSUSA. Specifically, "Every person accepting the
principles of the Girl Scout Movement and desiring to be a member of the Girl Scout Movement

in the United States of America shall pay annual, lifetime, or other applicable membership dues
to Girl Scouts of the United States of America." Const. at Art. IV.
17.

The National Council establishes the requirements for certificates of membership,

council charters and all other credentials. Const. at Art. VIII, § 1. Those requirements are
established by the National Council at its sessions. Const. at Art. V, § 2. And "[t]he decision on
membership dues shall require a majority of votes cast [by the members of the National Council
at its sessions]."Const. at Art. V, § 5.
18.

The GSUSA National Board of Directors is charged with the responsibility of

administering the requirements that are established by the National Council. Const. at Art. VIII,

§ 2.

COMPLAINT
Farthest North Girl Scout Council, et al. v. Girl Scouts ofthe USA
Page 3 of18

19.

Per its Charter Agreement, Farthest North is required to annually collect and

forward to GSUSA all dues paid by the members of the Girl Scout Movement residing within
Farthest North's jurisdiction.
20.

In accordance with the authority established under the Constitution, the National

Council caused membership dues to increase on nine separate occasions between 1941and2009;
i.e., in 1941, 1947, 1969, 1978, 1984, 1990, 1996, 2003 and 2009. As of 2009, the annual dues
established by the National Council were $12.00 per member of the Girl Scout Movement.
21.

At the 2008 session of the National Council, the GSUSA National Board of

Directors proposed an amendment to remove in its entirety the following language from Article
V, § 5 of the Constitution: "Decision on annual membership dues shall be by ballot and shall
require a majority of votes cast."
22.

The National Council rejected the National Board's attempt to remove the

National Council's voting authority on annual membership dues, and affirmatively voted to
retain the following language: "Decision on annual membership dues shall require a majority of
votes cast." That language remains unchanged in the Constitution at Article V, § 5.
23.

Notwithstanding the Constitution's express requirement that decisions on

membership dues require the majority vote of the National Council, and notwithstanding the
National Council's affirmative vote to retain that authority, the GSUSA National Board of
Directors (on or about January 20, 2012) imposed a dues increase of $3.00 per year per member,
effective October 1, 2013, for the 2014 membership year. This action by the National Board of
Directors was taken without it being presented to the National Council and without a vote by the
National Council.
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24.

By this action, the GSUSA National Board of Directors caused annual dues that

had theretofore been established by the National Council to increase from $12.00 to $15.00.
25.

Notwithstanding the Constitution's express requirement that decisions on

membership dues require the majority vote of the National Council, and notwithstanding the
National Council's affirmative vote to retain that authority, the GSUSA National Board of
Directors (on or about January 21, 2016) imposed a second dues increase of$10.00 per year per
member, effective October 1, 2017, for the 2018 membership year. This action by the National
Board of Directors was taken without it being presented to the National Council and without a
vote by the National Council.
26.

By this action, combined with the $3.00 dues increase imposed in 2012, the

GSUSA National Board of Directors caused annual dues that had theretofore been established by
the National Council to increase from $12.00 to $25.00.
27.

Plaintiffs have objected to GSUSA and directly to the National Board of Directors

regarding the National Board's failure to comply with the mandates of the Constitution, its
failure to obtain National Council approval for the dues increases, and the impropriety of its
unilateral and unauthorized dues increase; including in an email from Ms. Nelles dated February
17, 2016 (Exhibit 4), a letter from Mr. Sharpton dated August 12, 2016 (Exhibit 5), and a letter
from Mr. Sharpton dated September 8, 2016 (Exhibit 6).
28.

GSUSA rejected Plaintiffs' objections and stated its position that, notwithstanding

the express language and mandate of the Constitution, the National Board of Directors has the
unilateral authority to increase membership dues without the vote and approval of the National
Council.
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29.

In his letter of August 12, 2016, Mr. Sharpton advised GSUSA that Farthest North

"will not participate in that unauthorized conduct."
30.

The time for councils to enroll girls in the Girl Scout Movement is in the fall of

the year when they are returning to school. In the fall of2016, Farthest North signed girls and
adults up for the 2017 membership year. As a part of that process, Farthest North collected
$15.00 from each member; consisting of the $12.00 portion approved by the National Council
and the $3.00 portion imposed by the National Board.
31.

Farthest North, per the Constitution and the Charter Agreement, forwarded to

GSUSA the full amount of $12.00 per member that had been voted upon and approved by the
National Council. Farthest North set aside, however, the additional dues of $3.00 per member
and placed those funds in a separate account for the protection of the members whose dues were
increased without the authority of the National Council. Farthest North did not forward those
funds to GSUSA.
32.

Though Farthest North forwarded to GSUSA 100% of the dues that had been

authorized by the National Council, GSUSA put Farthest North on notice that Farthest North was
in breach of the Charter Agreement. Further, GSUSA refused to process any of the girls and
adult members whose $12.00 dues had been collected and forwarded to GSUSA, refused to
enroll them as members of the Girl Scout Movement, refused to allow them to participate in Girl
Scout activities, and refused to provide insurance to protect any of those girls and adults when
participating in Girl Scout activities. See, for example, GSUSA's letter to Farthest North dated
November 17, 2016, attached hereto as Exhibit 7.
33.

In a telephone conference between Plaintiffs and GSUSA on December 13, 2016,

GSUSA restated and reemphasized its threats and demands.
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34.

Faced with the imminent threat to its Charter and to its members, Farthest North

capitulated-under protest-to GSUSA's coercion. On December 14, 2016, Farthest North sent
payments to GS USA totaling $2,961; an amount equal to the funds that had been withheld by
Farthest North for the protection of its members. Attached hereto as Exhibit 8 is a copy of
Farthest North's letter to GSUSA accompanying its coerced payment.
35.

Farthest North did not make this payment from the segregated account it

established for the protection of its members who have been overcharged by GSUSA. Those
funds remain in the segregated account for protection and for their future return to the members.
Rather, to protect its members' interests, Farthest North's payment to GSUSA came directly
from Farthest North's own operating account.
36.

As members of the Girl Scout Movement, Mr. Sharpton, Ms. Nelles and all

members of the Girl Scout Movement residing in Farthest North's jurisdiction were required by
GSUSA to pay $3.00 in dues to GSUSA in membership years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017. In
each of those years, GSUSA misrepresented that the $3.00 dues increase was authorized and
owing to GSUSA. In fact, GSUSA had no authority to demand or collect those dues.
37.

Mr. Sharpton, Ms. Nelles and all members of the Girl Scout Movement residing

in Farthest North's jurisdiction will, without the Court's intervention, be required by GS USA to
pay the additional unauthorized dues increase of $10.00 (plus the existing unauthorized dues
increase of $3.00) for the 2018 membership year and in all subsequent years.
38.

Farthest North will, without the Court's intervention, be required to collect

unauthorized dues from its Council members and to deliver those unauthorized dues to GSUSA.
39.

Farthest North has standing to represent the interests of its members in this suit.

Farthest North's members would, like Ms. Nelles and Mr. Sharpton, have standing to sue in their
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own right. The interests Farthest North seeks to protect herein are germane to its purpose as the
local Girl Scout Council and its duty to foster and protect the interests of its members. Neither
the claims asserted nor the relief requested herein requires the participation of all individual
members in the lawsuit.
40.

Plaintiffs are public interest litigants.
COUNT I: DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTION

1-40. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 40, supra.
41.

An actual controversy exists between the parties regarding the National Board's

authority-or lack thereof-to unilaterally impose dues increases on the members of the Girl
Scout Movement and to require Farthest North to collect and forward those unauthorized dues.
42.

Plaintiffs request a declaratory judgment (i) that the GSUSA governance

documents provide that all decisions on membership dues require a majority vote of the National
Council; (ii) that the dues increases of$3.00 and $10.00 imposed by the GSUSA Board of
Directors were not voted upon and were not authorized by the National Council; and (iii) that the
GSUSA National Board's dues increases of$3.00 and $10.00 were without authority.
43.

Plaintiffs request a permanent injunction barring future enforcement by GSUSA

of the unauthorized dues increases of $3.00 and $10.00, and of any future dues increases
imposed by GSUSA without the National Council's affirmative approval.
44.

Plaintiffs request a declaratory judgment that GSUSA has been unjustly enriched

in the amount of the $3.00 per member in dues it has annually collected from Ms. Nelles, Mr.
Sharpton and all Girl Scout Movement members residing in Farthest North's jurisdiction.

COMPLAINT
Farthest North Girl Scout Council, et al. v. Girl Scouts ofthe USA
Page 8 of18

45.

Plaintiffs request an order ofrestitution requiring GSUSA to reimburse Ms.

Nelles, Mr. Sharpton and all of the Girl Scout Movement members residing in Farthest North's
jurisdiction for the full amount that GSUSA has been unjustly enriched.
COUNT II: ULTRA VIRES

1-45. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 45, supra.
46.

GSUSA is a non-profit corporation subject to the District of Columbia Nonprofit

Corporation Act. DC ST§ 29-401.01, et seq.
47.

Section 29-403.04(a) and (b) of the District of Columbia Nonprofit Corporation

Act (entitled "Ultra vires") provides:
(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this section, the validity of
corporate action shall not be challenged on the ground that the nonprofit
corporation lacks or lacked power to act.
(b) The power of a nonprofit corporation to act may be challenged in a
proceeding by:
(1) A member, director, or member of a designated body against the
corporation to enjoin the act[.]
48.

Mr. Sharpton and Ms. Nelles are members of the National Council and members

ofGSUSA.
49.

The National Board of Directors' imposition of the $3.00 and $10.00 dues

increases was ultra vires.
50.

Mr. Sharpton and Ms. Nelles request a permanent injunction barring enforcement

by GSUSA of the $3.00 and $10.00 dues increases.
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COUNT III: WRONGFUL CHARITABLE SOLICITATION

1-50. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 50, supra.
51.

Pursuant to Alaska law regulating charitable solicitations (AS § 45.68.050,et seq.)

it is unlawful for a charitable organization to solicit charitable contributions using a deceptive
act, including an act described in Section 471 of the Alaska Unfair Trade Practices and
Consumer Protection Act (AS§ 45.50.471).
52.

GSUSA is a tax exempt organization under 26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3) (Internal Revenue

Code), and is a charitable organization as defined in AS§ 45.68.900(1)(B).
53.

Farthest North is a tax exempt organization under 26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3) (Internal

Revenue Code), and is a charitable organization as defined in AS§ 45.68.900(1)(8).
54.

GSUSA's solicitation and collection of unauthorized dues from its Movement

members is a deceptive act.
55.

Pursuant to AS § 45.68.090:
(a) A charitable organization that suffers damages as a result of a violation of this
chapter by another charitable organization ... may bring a civil action against the
violator.
(b) A person who makes a contribution to a charitable organization ... that
violates this chapter may bring a civil action against the violator.
(c) In an action under (a) or (b) of this section, a court may
(1) award damages for the violation;
(2) enjoin future violations;
(3) provide other relief that the court determines is necessary to restore to
the person damaged real or personal property that was acquired by the
violator by means of the violation;
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(4) require the violator, under appropriate circumstances, to pay the full
attorney fees and costs incurred by the charitable organization or other
person bringing the action.
56.

Mr. Sharpton, Ms. Nelles and all Girl Scout Movement members residing in

Farthest North's jurisdiction made contributions to GSUSA in the form of dues solicited by
GSUSA as a result of GSUSA's unlawful solicitation conduct.
57.

Farthest North is a charitable organization that has suffered damages as a result of

GSUSA's unlawful solicitation conduct.
58.

The Plaintiffs request the Court to award damages, enjoin future violations, and

award the Plaintiffs' full attorney fees and costs.
COUNT IV: UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES AND CONSUMER PROTECTION

1-58. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 58, supra.
59.

Pursuant to the Alaska Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Act at AS

§ 45.50.47l(b)(l l), (14) and (36), it is an unfair method of competition and an unfair or

deceptive act or practice to:
( 11) engag[e] in any other conduct creating a likelihood of confusion or of
misunderstanding and which misleads, deceives, or damages a buyer or a
competitor in connection with the sale or advertisement of goods or services;

(14) represent[] that an agreement confers or involves rights, remedies, or
obligations which it does not confer or involve, or which are prohibited by law;

(36) violat[e] AS 45.68 (charitable solicitations)[.]
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60.

GSUSA's solicitation of dues from its Movement members, including Mr.

Sharpton and Ms. Nelles, without authorization is a violation of AS§ 45.50.471(b)(l 1) and (36).
61.

GS USA' s representation that GS USA possessed the right under the Constitution

to impose and collect the unauthorized dues from the Movement membersis false and is a
violation of AS§ 45.50.471(b)(14).
62.

GSUSA's representation that the Charter Agreement (Exhibit 1) required Farthest

North to collect and forward the unauthorized dues from the Movement members is false and is a
violation of AS§ 45.50.471(b)(14).
63.

Pursuant to AS§ 45.50.531, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover for each unlawful act

or practice three times their actual damages or $500, whichever is greater.
64.

Pursuant to AS § 45 .50.531, the Court should provide other relief it considers

necessary and proper. Under the circumstances of this case, it is necessary and proper that the
Court enter an order of restitution requiring GSUSA to reimburse all of the Girl Scout Movement
members residing in Farthest North's jurisdiction in the full amount that GSUSA has been
unjustly enriched through its collection of the unauthorized $3.00 dues increase.
65.

Pursuant to AS § 45.50.535, the Court should enter an injunction prohibiting

GSUSA from continuing to engage in the unlawful conduct.
66.

Pursuant to AS § 45.50.537, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover their full reasonable

attorney fees at the prevailing reasonable rate.
COUNT V: TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH FIDUCIARY DUTY
1-66. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 66, supra.
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67.

Farthest North and its board of directors owe a fiduciary duty to Farthest North's

members.
68.

GSUSA knew, and knows, that Farthest North and its board of directors owe a

fiduciary duty to Farthest North's members.
69.

After conducting its investigation in 2016 and determining the impropriety of

GSUSA's $3.00 and $10.00 dues increases without the affirmative vote of the National Council,
Farthest North's board of directors determined it would be a breach of their and Farthest North's
fiduciary duties to participate with GSUSA in this unlawful activity.
70.

On August 12, 2016, Farthest North corresponded to GSUSA (Exhibit 5) and

therein outlined the impropriety of the dues increases that the GSUSA National Board of
Directors had imposed, demanded that the prior unauthorized activity be rectified, and further
demanded that all further unauthorized activity be brought to an end. Farthest North informed
GSUSA that if its unauthorized activities did not stop, Farthest North would not participate in the
unauthorized conduct.
71.

GSUSA did not stop its unauthorized conduct.

72.

Consistent with its fiduciary duty to its members, Farthest North thereafter

segregated in a separate bank account all members' dues that GSUSA had no authority to collect.
This action was taken in anticipation that GSUSA would reverse course and that Farthest North
would be able to return these funds to its members.
73.

GSUSA did not reverse course. Instead, GSUSA coercively and tortiously

interfered with Farthest North's fiduciary duty to its members by threatening termination of
Farthest North's charter and further threatening the security of its members by refusing to insure

COMPLAINT
Farthest North Girl Scout Council, et al. v. Girl Scouts ofthe USA
Page 13 of18

them when participating in Girl Scout activities if Farthest North did not collect and transmit the
unlawful $3.00 dues increase.
74.

Farthest North had no immediately viable option but to submit to GSUSA's

coercive and tortious interference. Farthest North was forced to transmit to GSUSA an amount
equal to the $3.00 per member dues that Farthest North had collected or risk loss of its charter as
the local Girl Scout Council. So as not to misuse its members' funds, however, Farthest North
paid GSUSA with its own funds.
75.

Farthest North does not have the financial resources to pay its members' dues, and

cannot continue to do so.
76.

Farthest North's Charter and its financial viability have been placed in jeopardy

by GSUSA's coercive and tortious interference.
77.

Farthest North seeks an injunction stopping GSUSA's ongoing tortious

interference with regard to the unauthorized dues increases.
78.

Farthest North seeks a judgment in the amount of its members' dues it has paid to

GSUSA out of its own funds.
COUNT VI: DECLARATORY JUDGMENT RE CHARTER AGREEMENT

1-78. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 78, supra.
79.

Farthest North and GS USA are parties to the Charter Agreement (Exhibit 1).

80.

The Charter Agreement expressly provides as follows:
IN AGREEING TO ACCEPT A CHARTER, THE COUNCIL WILL:

2. Develop, manage, and maintain Girl Scouting throughout the area of its
jurisdiction, in such manner and subject to such limitations as prescribed in the
Constitution, Bylaws, and policies of Girl Scouts of the United States of America.
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(underscore added)
81.

The Charter Agreement further provides as follows:
We understand and agree that in carrying out the terms and other obligations of
the charter, we will act in accordance with the Constitution and Bylaws of Girl
Scouts of the United States of America and that the rights and responsibilities
granted in the charter are limited by the aforesaid Constitution and Bylaws.
(underscore added)

82.

The contract between the parties requires that Farthest North perform under the

contract only in a manner, and subject to the limitations, as prescribed by and in accordance with
the Constitution.
83.

Farthest North was at all times performing in accordance with the Charter

Agreement when it refused to collect and transmit dues that were implemented without authority
and in violation of the Constitution.
84.

Yet, GSUSA threatened to terminate Farthest North's Charter for performing in

accordance with the Constitution.
85.

Farthest North requests a declaratory judgment that Farthest North's refusal to

collect and transmit the unauthorized $3. 00 and $10. 00 dues increases-and any future dues
increases that may be imposed by GSUSA without National Council authorization-is not a
breach of the Charter Agreement.
COUNT VII: BREACH OF CHARTER AGREEMENT

1-85. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 through 85, supra.

COMPLAINT
Farthest North Girl Scout Council, et al. v. Girl Scouts ofthe USA
Page 15 of18

86.

GSUSA's demand that Farthest North collect and transmit unauthorized dues is a

breach of the Charter Agreement's express requirement that Farthest North's performance is at
all times subject to the Constitution.
87.

GSUSA's demand that Farthest North collect and transmit unauthorized dues is a

breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing contained within the Charter Agreement.
88.

Farthest North acceded to GSUSA's wrongful demand which was in breach of the

contract only as a result of GSUSA's wrongful threats and coercion. GSUSA has no contractual
right to those funds.
89.

Farthest North is entitled to a judgment in the amount of the money it paid to

GSUSA as result of the coercion and for all other damages that have been caused by GSUSA's
breach of contract.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
Wherefore, Plaintiffs pray for the following relief:
A.

For a declaratory judgment (i) that the GSUSA governance documents provide

that all decisions on membership dues require a majority vote of the National Council; (ii) that
the dues increases of $3.00 and $10.00 initiated by the GSUSA Board of Directors were not
voted upon and were not authorized by the National Council; and (iii) that the GSUSA National
Board's dues increases of$3.00 and $10.00 were without authority;

B.

For a declaratory judgment that GSUSA has been unjustly enriched in the amount

of the $3.00 per member dues it has annually collected from Girl Scout Movement members
residing in Farthest North's jurisdiction;
C.

For an order of restitution requiring GSUSA to reimburse Mr. Sharpton, Ms.

Nelles and all of the Girl Scout Movement members residing in Farthest North's jurisdiction in
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the full amount that GS USA has been unjustly enriched through its collection of the
unauthorized $3.00 dues increase;
D.

For a permanent injunction barring future enforcement by GSUSA of the

unauthorized dues increases of$3.00 and $10.00, and of any future dues increases imposed by
the National Board of Directors without the National Council's approval;
E.

For a declaratory judgment that Farthest North's refusal to collect and transmit the

unauthorized $3.00 and $10.00 dues increases is not a breach of the Charter Agreement;
F.

For a judgment in favor of Mr. Sharpton, Ms. Nelles and all members of the Girl

Scout Movement residing in Farthest North's jurisdiction in the amount of their charitable
contributions received by GSUSA in violation of AS § 45.68.050 et seq.;
G.

For a judgment in favor of Farthest North in the amount of damages it has

suffered as a result of GSUSA's charitable solicitations in violation of AS§ 45.68.050 et seq.;
H.

For a judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and all the members of the Girl Scout

Movement residing in Farthest North's jurisdiction in an amount equal to three times the actual
amount of damages (or $500, whichever is greater) they incurred for each unlawful act or
practice by GSUSA under the Alaska Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Act, and
for such further relief the Court considers necessary and proper;
I.

For a judgment in favor of Farthest North in the amount of its members' dues it

has paid to GSUSA out of its own funds, and for all other damages arising out of GSUSA's
breach of contract and coercion;
J.

For Plaintiffs' full attorneys' fees and costs; and

K.

For such further relief the Court deems proper, just and equitable.
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Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska, this-# day of February 2017.

KRAMER AND ASSOCIATES
Attorney for Plaintiffs

By:

~dfl-4--J-1--1--!~l.=_
Michael C. :/(;amer
Alaska Bar Number 9605031

VERIFICATION
I, Suellen Nelles, say on oath or affirm that I have read the foregoing document and
believe all statements made in the document are true.

Suelfun Nelles
Executive Director of Farthest North Girl
Scout Council

~SCRIBED AND SWORN to before me at Fairbanks, Alaska, on this ~y of
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Girl ScOUIS d the USA

GIRL SCOUT COUNCIL
CHARTER AGREEMENT

420 Flftl'IAvenue

N-Yorit. NY 10018-2796

Fun- to lite~ of11W Bolltlf aflllr9c:tOrS of Girl Scouts Of tll<t

Unfted~of
~ ~----of-chMlilr
~·--ufltllllwcoad~thl$~

The

Farthest North Girl Scout Council
(Official Name of Council)

Stateof

AK

hereinafter referred to as the Council, now having juriscflciion a.ter the area descnbed in the official record
of the councirs jurisdiction on file with the Girl Sc.outs of the United States of America and holding a
charter for this jurisdiction. hereby agrees to accept a charter for the same jurisdiction, subject to change
at the discretion of GSUSA, for the term prescribed by the National Board of Directors.

IN AGREEING TO ACCEPT A CHARTER, THE COUNCIL WILL:
1. Subscnbe to the purpose, adhere to the policies, and be guided by the charter criteria and standards
of Girl Scouts of the United States of America.
Charter Criteria:
A chartered Girl Scout Council maximizes detivery of the Girl Scout mission by engaging and
supporting volunteers to provide a nationally consistent quality leadership experience that achieves
positive girl outcomes and reaches increasing numbers of girls.
A chartered Girl Scout Council advances the movement through strategic governance and
leadership that employ effective systems and structures to deliver the Girt Scout mission.
A chartered Girl Scout Council advances organi:ational impad. by growing resources, effectively
promoting a unified national brand and standing up for girls on issues that affect their vvell-being.

2. Develop, manage, and maintain Girl Scouting throughout the area of its jurisdiction, in such manner
and subject to such limitations as prescribed in the Constitution, Bylaws. and policies of Girf Scouts of
the United States of America.

3. Participate in the activities and business of Girt Scouts of the United States of America.
4. Make reports of its work to Gir1 5eouts of the United States of America, have at all times a registered
board of directors, and make sure that all persons affiliating with the Council meet incftvidual

membership requirements.
5. Comply with federal, state and local laws as well as Girl Scoots of the United
pofic:les

a

States d America

Regularly review and file with Girl Scouts of the United States of America, By-laws, articles of
incmporation and board adopted strategic priorities.
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7.

Provide the foltowing documents to Girt Scouts cl the United States cl Am~:

Financial Audit and Management Letter
990Form
Current Boarcl member list
Board minutest board packets
Name of CEO and Boan1 Chair
Headquarters address

Annually

Annually
Update as dlanges occur
After each board meeting
VVhen there are changes
When there is a change

8.

Forward membel'ship dues to Girl Scouts of the United States of America in a timely manner. (W"lthin
2 month$ of receipt)

9.

Participate in an annuaf review process with Girl Scouts of the Untted States of America and
implement any agreed upon foltow~up.

SUBJECT TO THE LIMITATIONS HEREIN CONTAlNEO, THE CHARTER. WHEN ISSUED, WILL
CONFER FOR THE DURATION Of ITS TERM THE FOLLOWING RIGHTS:
1. The right to be identified with the Girl Scout Movement in the United States of America, which Is
directed and coordinated by Girl Scouts of the United States of America, a member of the World

Association d Girl Guides and Girl Scouts.

2. The right to use the words •Girl Scouts• as part of the designation of the Council (whether or not
incorporated).
3. The right to use Girl Scout program and the right to use Girl Scout insignia in connection with that

program.
4. The right to use the trademanc ·Girl Scouts" and the service mane, as defined in Girt Scouts of the
United States of America's Graphic Guidelines, on produds or merchandise obtained and used for
the ctay-to--day operations of the Counct1, including stationery, office supplies, items with council and
camp names and symbols, brochures, newsletters and such items as Girl Scouts of the United States
of America may hereafter designate. Any other use of mafks or insignia owned by Girl Scouts of the

United States of America on products or merchandise must be approved by Giri Scouts of the United
States of America. This includes but is not fimited to merchandise to be sold by the COuneil. This
right is nonexclusive and nontransferable.
5. The rights to develop, manage, and maintain Girl Scouting throughout the area of the jurisdiction of
the Council.
6. The right to receive selVices from Girl Scouts of the United States of America.

7. The right to respond to requests for proposals (RFPs) that are sent out from time to time by Girl
Scouts of the United States of America.
8. The right to raise funds in the name of Girl Scouts within the councirs jurisdiction.
9. The right. through delegates elected to the National Council of Girl Scouts of the United States of
America, to participate !n the business of Girl Scouts of the United States of America.
We understand and agree that in carrying out the terms and other obligations of the charter, we will act in
accordance with the Constitution and Bylaws of Girt Scouts of the United States of America and that the
rights and respons1bilities granted in the charter are limited by the aforesaid Constitution and Bylaws.
We also understand and agree that the rights and responslb!Hties granted by the charter cannot be
delegated nor can the juri.sdictlon for Which the charter is sought be changed without the written
authorization of Girl Scouts d the United States of America.

By agreeing to adhere to the policies of Girl Scouts of the United States of America. we understand and
agree to operate as a council in accordance with and to be limited by policies so identified, published, and
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distributed to councils by Girl Scouts of the United States of America. accepting them as binding on the
Council, on all its members, officefs, employees, and those affiliating with it.

By agreeing to be guided by the standards of Girt Scouts of the United States cl America, we understand
that as a council we have committed ourselves and those affiliating with us to fellow and be guided by the
standards published from time to time by Girl Scoots of the United St-ates cl America.
We understand and agree that it is the Council's responsibility to see that each person afflllallng with it
meets at ad times the individual membership requirements established by Girl Scoots of the United States
of America. and to register with Girl Scouts of the United States of America alt girls and adufts
participating in Girl Scouting within its jurisdiction, whether in pathways or in any other capacity, except
those adults woridng in a temporary advisory or consultative capacity.
We understand and agree that the charter if accepted may be revoked or terminated by Girl Scouts of the
United States of America under the provisions of its Constitution. !hat the rights conferred by the charter
cease to exist upon termination or revocation of the charter. and !hat upon revocation or termination of
the charter, the Council can no longer and, therefore, win not exercise any of the rights granted to it
therein.
We understand and agree that the Council's articles of incorporation and bylaws, wtlich are attached, are
a part of this agreement Furthermore, we agree that any changes or amendments to these documents
will be filed with Girt Scouts of the United States of America in a timely manner.
We understand and agree to pay the Council's charter fee of $40.00, for wtiich a check is attached.

Farthest North Gin Scout Council

/0-1'1--l'f
Date d Signature

10-7Sig~ature of COUnctl Chief Executive Officer

N~I,

ti

Date d Signature

u11

Date Council Board adopted current strategic priorities

By November

1". return completed application with $40 charter fee to:

Diane Federico
Council Relationshfp Coordinator

Gkl Scouts of the USA
420 Fifth Avenue, 1ff' Floor
New Yorlr. New Yorlc. 10018-2798
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CONGRESSIONAL CHARTER
OF GIRL SCOUTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

CHAPTER 803 GIRL SCOUTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

(3) to fix and maintain standards forthe movement that will
inspire the rising generation with the highest ideals of character, patriotism, conduct, and attainment.

Sec.
80301. Organization.
80302. Purposes.

§ 80303. GOVERNING BODY

80303. Governingbody.
80304. Powers.

(a) National Council.-

80305. Exclusive right to emblems, badges, marks, and words.
80306. Restrictions.
80307. Annual report.

§ 80301. ORGANIZATION
(a) Federal charter.-Girl Scouts of the United States of
America (in this chapter, the "corporation") is a body corporate
and politic of the District of Columbia.
(b) Domicile.-The domicile of the corporation is the District
of Columbia.

(1) There shall be a National Council of Girl Scouts. The
number, qualifications, and term of office of members of the
Council are as provided in the constitution of the corporation,
except that members of the Council must be citizens of the
United States.

(2) The Council may adopt and amend a constitution and
bylaws and elect a board of directors, officers, and agents.
(3) The constitution may prescribe the number of members
of the Council necessary for a quorum. That number may be
less than a majority of the entire Council.

(c) Perpetual existence.-Except as otherwise provided, the
corporation has perpetual existence.

(4) Meetings of the Council shall be held as provided in the
constitution to hold elections and receive reports of the officers and board of directors. Special meetings may be called

§ 80302. PURPOSES

as provided in the constitution.

The purposes of the corporation are-

(b) Board of directors.-

(1) to promote the qualities of truth, loyalty, helpfulness,

(1) To the extent provided in the constitution and bylaws, the

friendliness, courtesy, purity, kindness, obedience, cheerful-

board of directors shall have the powers of the Council and

ness, thriftiness, and kindred virtues among girls, as a prepara-

manage the activities of the corporation between meetings of

tion for their responsibilities in the home and for service to the
community;

the Council. The number, qualifications, and term of office of
directors are as provided in the constitution.

(2) to direct and coordinate the Girl Scout movement in the
United States and territories and possessions of the United
States; and

necessary for a quorum. That number shall be at least 20 or
two-fifths of the entire board.

(2) The constitution may prescribe the number of directors

32
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( c) Executive and other committees.-The bylaws may
provide for-

§ 80306. RESTRICTIONS
(a) Profit.-The corporation may not operate for profit.

(1) an executive committee to carry out the powers of the

board of directors between meetings of the board; and

(b) Political activities.-The corporation shall be nonpolitical
and nonsectarian.

(2) other committees to operate under the general supervision of the board of directors.

§ 80307. ANNUAL REPORT
(d) Location of meetings and records.-The Council and
the board of directors may hold meetings and keep the seal

Not later than April 1 of each year, the corporation shall submit

and records of the corporation in or outside the District of

a report to Congress on the activities of the corporation during

Columbia.

the prior fiscal year. The report shall be printed each year, with
accompanying illustrations, as a separate House document of
the session of the Congress to which the report is submitted.**

§ 80304. POWERS
The corporation may(1) adopt and amend a constitution, bylaws, and regulations,
including regulations for the election of associates and
successors;
(2) adoptandalteraseal;
(3) have offices and conduct its activities in the District of
Columbia and in the States, territories, and possessions of the
United States;

(4) acquire, own, lease, encumber, and transfer property, and
use any income from the property, as necessary to carry out
the purposes of the corporation;
(5) sue and be sued within the jurisdiction of the United States; and
(6) do any other act necessary to carry out this chapter and
the purposes of the corporation.

§ 80305. EXCLUSIVE RIGHT TO EMBLEMS,
BADGES, MARKS, AND WORDS
The corporation has the exclusive right to use all emblems
and badges, descriptive or designating marks, and words or
phrases the corporation adopts, including the badge of the Girl
Scouts, Incorporated, referred to in the Act of August 12, 1937
(ch. 590, 50 Stat. 623), and to authorize their use, during the
life of the corporation, in connection with the manufacture,
advertisement, and sale of equipment and merchandise. This

**Note: Chapter 803, Girl Scouts of the United States of America, Section
80307. This requirement was terminated effective May 15, 2000. See
Pub.L. 104-66, § 3003, set out as a note under 31, U.S.C.A.1113, and H.R.
Doc. No.103-7, at200.

section does not affect any vested rights.
33
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I CONSTITUTION

1

OF GIRL SCOUTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Founded by Juliette Low, March 12, 1912
Chartered by special act of Congress
(Public Law 460; approved March 16, 1950)
Congressional Charter subsequently revised under Public Law 105-225;
approved August 12, 1998

PREAMBLE
PROMISE

THE PROMISE

On my honor, I will try:
To serve God and my country,
To help people at all times,
And to live by the Girl Scout Law.
LAW

THE LAW

I will do my best to be
honest and fair,
friendly and helpful,
considerate and caring,
courageous and strong,
and responsible for what I say and do,
and to
respect myself and others,
respect authority,
use resources wisely,
make the world a better place,
and be a sister to every Girl Scout.
BELIEFS & PRINCIPLES
OF THE GIRL SCOUT
MOVEMENT IN THE USA

BELIEFS AND PRINCIPLES

We, the members of Girl Scouts of the United States of America, united by a belief in God, hold that
the Girl Scout Promise and Law is the cornerstone of our Movement,

FOUNDERS' NAMES

And inspired by the Founder of the Girl Scout Movement in the United States, Juliette Low, and by the
aims of the Founder of the Scout Movement, Lord Baden-Powell, attest to the following:

MISSION

MISSION

Girl Scouting builds girls of courage, confidence, and character, who make the world a better place.
SPIRITUAL FORCE

SPIRITUAL FORCE

The motivating force in Girl Scouting is spiritual. The ways in which members identify and fulfill their
spiritual beliefs are personal and private.
OPEN MEMBERSHIP

OPEN MEMBERSHIP

The Girl Scout Movement is open to all girls and adults who accept the Girl Scout Promise and Law
and meet membership requirements.

6

1. Major revision adopted by the National Council, November1957. Amended November 1960, October 1972,
October 1975, October1978, October 1981, October 1984, October 1990, October 1996, October1999, October 2002,
October 2005, November 2008.
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PATRIOTISM, CITIZENSHIP, AND COMMUNITY SERVICE

PATRIOTISM, CITIZENSHIP,
& COMMUNITY SERVICE

Local, national, and global service and action are core elements of the Girl Scout experience.
DIVERSITY AND PLURALISM

DIVERSITY & PLURALISM

Girl Scouts advance diversity and pluralism in our Movement and in the communities in which we live.
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE MOVEMENT AND THE DEMOCRATIC PROCESS

The ultimate responsibility for the Girl Scout Movement rests with its members. We govern by an ef-

RESPONSIBILITY FOR
MOVEMENT/
DEMOCRATIC PROCESS

ficient and effective democratic process that demonstrates our leadership in a fast-changing world.
GIRL/ADULT PARTNERSHIP

GIRL/ADULT PARTNERSHIP

Adults partner with girls to guide and inspire growth and achievement. Volunteers are essential to the
strength and capacity of our Movement.
WORLD ASSOCIATION OF GIRL GUIDES AND GIRL SCOUTS (WAGGGS)

WORLD ASSOCIATION

We are active partners in a worldwide sisterhood through our affiliation with WAGGGS. We work with
WAGG GS to address the needs of girls and to build a network of global citizens.
COMMUNITY PARTNERS

COMMUNITY PARTNERS

We take an active leadership role and are collaborative partners in the community.
VOICE

VOICE FOR GIRLS

We are a premier voice for girls and an expert on their growth and development.

ARTICLE I

NAME

NAME OF THE CORPORATION

The name of this corporation is Girl Scouts of the United States of America.

ARTICLE ii

PURPOSE OF THE CORPORATION

PURPOSE OF CORPORATION

The purpose of the corporation is to promote the Girl Scout Movement in the United States of

PURPOSE/JURISDICTION

America, which includes the United States, its territories, and possessions, by directing and coordinating the Movement and by providing and administering the Girl Scout program in accordance with
the purposes set forth in its Congressional Charter.

ARTICLE

m

THE GIRL SCOUT PROGRAM

GIRL SCOUT PROGRAM

Grounded in the Girl Scout Promise and Law, Girl Scouting is a nonformal, experiential, and cooperative education program that promotes girls' personal growth and leadership development. Partnering
with caring adults, girls design fun and challenging activities that empower them and raise their voices
within a local, national, and global sisterhood.

ARTICLE IV

THE NATIONAL COUNCIL

NATIONAL COUNCIL

1. The membership of this corporation shall consist of the members of the National Council of Girl
Scouts of the United States of America, and the corporation in meeting assembled shall be known as

CORPORATION
MEMBERSHIP

the National Council.
7
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POWERS

I 2. The National Council shall have all the powers conferred by the Congressional Charter and by other
applicable laws, and shall exercise these powers with due regard for its position as the coordinating
head of the Girl Scout Movement in the United States.

ELIGIBILITY FOR
MEMBERSHIP

MEMBERSHIP

3. Only citizens of the United States who are members of the Girl Scout Movement in the United
States and who are 14 years of age or over may be members of the National Council.

4. The membership of the National Council shall consist of:
a. delegates elected by Girl Scout councils who are registered through such local councils;
b. delegates from USA Girl Scouts Overseas;2
c. members of the National Board of Directors;
d. members of the National Board Development Committee;
e. Past Presidents of Girl Scouts of the United States of America; and
f such other persons as may be elected by the National Council.
The total membership of the National Council shall not exceed 1,500, and at least four-fifths of the
entire membership shall consist of delegates from local councils and from USA Girl Scouts Overseas.

FORMULA FOR
DELEGATES

5. Each local council to which a charter has been issued and remains in force shall be entitled to the
following delegates based on the number of girls under its jurisdiction who are members of the Girl
Scouts of the United States of America as of September 30 of the year preceding the regular session
of the National Council:
a. two (2) delegates;
b. one (1) additional delegate for up to 3,500 girls;
c. one (1) additional delegate for every 3,500 girls thereafter.
USA Girl Scouts Overseas collectively shall be entitled to the number of delegates according to the
same formula prescribed for local councils.
The prescribed figure of 3,500 girls may be adjusted when necessary to keep the total membership
of the National Council no larger than 1,500.

EXECUTIVE STAFF
MEMBERS

TERM FOR DELEGATES

6. Executive staff members employed by any local council shall be eligible for election as delegates
to the National Council, provided that the number of such executive staff members from any local
council shall not exceed the number of volunteers elected for the same period as delegates from
that local council.
7. Subject to the requirements of the preceding sections of this article, delegates elected by local
councils shall serve as members of the National Council for three years from the date of their election
or until their successors are elected, provided they remain the delegates of the local council which
elected them; delegates from USA Girl Scouts Overseas shall serve as members for three years from
the date of their selection or until their successors are selected, provided they remain delegates from
USA Girl Scouts Overseas; members of the National Board of Directors and National Board Development Committee shall be members of the National Council during their term of office; those persons
elected by the National Council shall serve until the next regular session of the National Council.

2. "Overseas" is a designation for the Girl Scouts of the USA program delivered outside the jurisdiction of a chartered

8

Girl Scout council.
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ARTICLE V

SESSIONS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL

NATIONAL COUNCIL
SESSIONS

1. There shall be a regular session of the National Council held triennially at such time and place as

REGULAR SESSIONS

determined by the National Board of Directors. Notice of the time, place, and purpose of such session shall be mailed not less than 60 days before the session to each local council, to each USA Girl
Scouts Overseas committee, and to each member of the National Board of Directors and National
Board Development Committee.

2. The National Council at its sessions shall hold elections, amend the Constitution, establish require-

RESPONSIBILITIES

ments for credentials, and shall determine the general lines of policy of the Girl Scout Movement and
program by considering and acting upon proposals directed toward the fostering and improvement
of Girl Scouting, by receiving and acting upon reports of its National Board of Directors, and by giving
guidance to the National Board upon general lines of direction of the Movement and program.

3. Special sessions of the National Council shall be called by the President upon written request of a

SPECIAL SESSIONS

majority of the members of the National Board of Directors or twenty percent (20%) of the membership of the National Council, which shall represent at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the councils
chartered by GSUSA. The purpose of the session shall be stated in the written request.
The purpose of the special session shall be limited to legitimate business of the National Council, and
no other business shall be transacted except that for which the session has been specifically called.
Notice of the special session, stating the time, place, and specific purpose, shall be mailed not less than
30 days before the session to each local council, each delegate from USA Girl Scouts Overseas, each
member of the National Board of Directors and the National Board Development Committee, each
Past President, and each member elected by the National Council who is entitled to vote at such session.

4. Two hundred members of the National Council present in person shall constitute a quorum for

QUORUM

the transaction of business at sessions of the National Council, provided, however, that delegates
are present from one or more local councils in a majority of the geographical areas of the country as
defined in the Bylaws. In the absence of a quorum, a majority of those present at the time and place
set for a session may take an adjournment from time to time until a quorum shall be present.

5. Each member present in person at the National Council shall be entitled to one (1) vote. Decision

VOTING

on membership dues shall require a majority of votes cast. All matters shall be determined by a
majority vote of the members present and voting, unless otherwise provided by this Constitution.

ARTICLE VI

PROPOSALS TO THE NATIONAL COUNCIL

PROPOSALS

1. Proposals directed toward the fostering and improvement of Girl Scouting that are to be acted

ORIGIN OF

upon by the National Council may be originated (a) by the National Board of Directors and (b) by local
councils. Proposals shall be submitted according to the following procedures:
a. Proposals originated by the National Board of Directors: (1) such proposals shall be sent to local
councils for consideration prior to the next session of the National Council, together with the

BY NATIONAL BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

recommendations of the National Board of Directors; (2) action shall be taken on such proposals by the Nationa I Council at its next session.
b. Proposals originated by local councils: (1) such proposals shall be sent to the National Board of

BY LOCAL COUNCILS

Directors by such date as shall be determined by the National Board of Directors; (2) the
National Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, shall determine whether such proposals relate
to matters which should properly be acted upon by the National Council, except that a proposal
submitted by a minimum of15 percent of all Girl Scout councils holding a charter issued by the
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National Board of Directors of Girl Scouts of the USA as of September 30 of the year preceding
the regular session of the National Council shall be determined by the National Board of Directors to relate to matters which should properly be acted upon by the National Council; (3)
proposals which the National Board determines relate to matters which should properly be
acted upon by the National Council shall be sent to local councils for consideration prior to the
next session of the National Council, together with the recommendations of the National Board
of Directors; ( 4) action shall be taken on such proposals by the National Council at its next session.

2. Any proposal involving a constitutional amendment shall be governed by the provisions of the
article on amendments.

LOCAL COUNCILS

ARTICLE VII

LOCAL GIRL SCOUT COUNCILS

Local Girl Scout councils shall be organized to further the development of the Girl Scout Movement
in the United States; to establish local responsibility for leadership, administration, and supervision
of the program; and to develop, manage, and maintain Girl Scouting in accordance with the terms of
their charters.

CREDENTIALS

REQUIREMENTS

ARTICLE vm

CREDENTIALS

1. The National Council shall establish requirements for certificates of membership, local council
charters, and all other credentials.

ADMINISTRATION

ISSUANCE REVOCATION

2. The National Board of Directors shall administer the requirements for the credentials established
by the National Council, and may establish standards and issue standards, procedures, and interpretations regarding such requirements provided such standards, procedures, and interpretations are
consistent with the requirements established by the National Council.
3. The National Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, shall have the power to issue these credentials subject to the requirements established by the National Council, and to revoke them when, in its
opinion, the terms and conditions thereof or requirements therefore are being violated or when the
best interests of Girl Scouting are not being furthered.

DURATION

MEMBERSHIP DUES

4. Charters and other credentials shal I be issued for no more than six years. Certificates of membership shall be issued for annual, lifetime, or other applicable periods. All the credentials shall bear the
name of Juliette Low.

ARTICLE IX

MEMBERSHIP DUES

Every person accepting the principles of the Girl Scout Movement and desiring to be a member of the
Girl Scout Movement in the United States of America shall pay annual, lifetime, or other applicable
membership dues to Girl Scouts of the United States of America.

NATIONAL BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

MANAGEMENT OF
CORPORATION/EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE

10

ARTICLE X

NATIONAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. The affairs of the corporation between sessions of the National Council shall be managed by a
National Board of Directors, except that the Bylaws may provide for an Executive Committee to exercise the powers of the National Board in the interim between its m,e.eting::j.
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2. The National Board of Directors shall consist of the President, the Vice Presidents, the Secretary,

I

COMPOSITION

and the Treasurer; and 25 members-at-large. The Chair of the National Board Development Committee, if not already elected to the National Board, shall be ex officio a member of the National Board.
The Chief Executive Officer shall be an ex officio member without vote. The National Board shall at all
times be representative of the various geographical areas of the country.

3. All members-at-large of the National Board of Directors shall be elected by the National Council at

ELECTION OF MEMBERS

each regular session to serve a three-year term beginning at the time of their installation at theses-

TERMS

sion when elected and ending upon the installation of their successors at the next regular session of
the National Council except that National Board members elected also as members of the National
Board Development Committee shall have a three-year term to coincide with the term of National
Board Development Committee members.
Of those nominated by the National Board Development Committee at least one-third shall be serving at the time of their nomination either a first or second term as members of the National Board of
Directors.
Members of the National Board of Directors shall serve for no more than three consecutive terms,

NUMBER OF TERMS

except that, regardless of the number of terms any person shall have served as a member of the
National Board of Directors, such person may be eligible to be a member of the National Board when
serving as an officer of the corporation elected by the National Council or as Chair of the National
Board Development Committee.
4. Any National Board member who is absent from two consecutive National Board meetings in their
entirety without good cause, acceptable to the President or designee, shall be removed from the

NON-PARTICIPATING
MEMBERS

National Board by a majority vote of the National Board members present and voting at any regular
meeting of the National Board of Directors.
Further, a National Board member may be removed with or without cause by a three-fourths vote of
the total number of the National Board of Directors.

5. The National Board of Directors sha II have the power to fill vacancies in its own membership until

VACANCIES

the next regular session of the National Council, including any vacancy created by the election of a
member-at-large to another capacity on the National Board and installation in such capacity. In filling
vacancies, the National Board shall conform to the requirement of Section 2 of this article.

6. In the event of an emergency which makes it impossible for the National Council to meet, all the

EMERGENCY POWERS

powers of the National Council, except the conducting of elections, shall, to the extent permissible
by law, be automatically conferred on the National Board of Directors until such time as a session of
the National Council can be held. Action taken by the National Board of Directors under these emergency powers shall be reported to the National Council at its next session. In such an emergency, the
term of office of all members of the National Board of Directors and National Board Development

TERM OF MEMBERS
IN EMERGENCY

Committee shall be extended until elections are held and successors installed at the next regular
session of the National Council. Such an extended term shall be considered to be one term of office.

ARTICLE XI

OFFICERS

OFFICERS

1. The officers of the corporation shall be the President, who shall have the working title Chair of the

OF THE CORPORATION

National Board of Directors; the First and Second Vice Presidents, who shall have the working titles of
Vice Chairs; the Secretary; the Treasurer; the Chief Executive Officer; and such other officers as the
Bylaws may provide.
11
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ELECTION
TERM

2. The President, the Vice Presidents, the Secretary, and the Treasurer shall be elected by the
National Council at each regular session to serve a three-year term beginning at the time of the installation at the session when elected and ending upon the installation of their successors at the

MAXIMUM NUMBER
OFTER MS

next regular session of the National Council. Each person shall serve no more than three consecutive
terms in any one or any combination of these offices. Regardless of the number of consecutive terms
any person shall have served in any one or any combination of these offices other than that
of President, such person shall be eligible for two consecutive terms as President.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
& OTHER OFFICERS

3. The Chief Executive Officer shall be appointed by the National Board of Directors to hold office
at its pleasure. Such other officers as the National Board of Directors may deem necessary may be
elected or appointed by the National Board as provided in the Bylaws.

VACANCIES

4. A vacancy among the officers of the corporation shall be filled by the National Board of Directors
for the remainder of the unexpired term.

PAST PRESIDENTS

5. In recognition of distinguished service, all Past Presidents of Girl Scouts of the United States of
America shall be honorary officers and members of the National Council with full voting rights.

HONORARY OFFICERS

NATIONAL BOARD
DEVELOPMENT
COMMITTEE

MEMBERSHIP
RELATIONSHIP TO
NATIONAL BOARD

6. The National Council may elect distinguished citizens as honorary officers of the National Council.

ARTICLE XII NATIONAL BOARD DEVELOPMENT
COMMITTEE, NOMINATIONS, AND ELECTIONS
1. The National Board Development Committee shall consist of seven (1) members, including the
chair of the committee; the CEO of Girl Scouts of the United States of America shall serve as an ex officio nonvoting member. Between meetings of the National Council, the National Board Development
Committee shall work in partnership with and report to the National Board of Directors.

COMPOSITION

2. At least two (2) members shall be members of the National Board of Directors and at least
three (3) members shall be non-National Board members.

ELECTION
TERMS OF OFFICE

3. Members shall be elected by the National Council.
4. The term of office shall commence at the adjournment of the National Council Session when
elected, and shall end at the adjournment of the next regular session, or until successors are elected
and assume office.

TERM LIMITS

APPOINTMENT &APPROVAL
OF CHAIR

5. At least two (2) members, but no more than three (3), shall serve a second consecutive term. No
individual shall serve more than two (2) consecutive terms as a member of the committee.

6. The chair of the committee shall be appointed by the President from amongst the members of
the National Board Development Committee and approved by either the Executive Committee or
the National Board. lndividual(s) shall serve no more than one (1) term as chair of the National Board
Development Committee.

VICE CHAIR ELECTION
VACANCIES

7. The committee shall elect a Vice Chair from amongst its membership.

8. A vacancy in any position, including the chair, shall be filled by the National Board for the unexpired term.
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9. The committee shall present at each regular session of the National Council a single slate of
nominees for: a) the President; b) the Vice Presidents; c) the Secretary; d) the Treasurer; e) mem-

SINGLE SLATE
OF NOMINEES

bers-at-large of the National Board of Directors; and f) members of the National Board Development
Committee. No member of the National Board Development Committee shall be eligible to be nominated for any officer position. A nominee for President shall be a current member of the National
Board of Directors.
10. Nominations may be made from the floor of the National Council Session provided that notice
of such nomination and written consent to serve by the nominee(s) shall have been provided to

NOMINATIONS
FROM FLOOR

the President and the Chair of the National Board Development Committee at least forty-eight ( 48)
hours prior to the published time for the convening of the meeting at which the election shall be held.
11. Election to any position on the National Board or the National Board Development Committee
shall require a majority of votes cast by those present and voting at the National Council Session.
12. Elections shall be by ballot, including electronic balloting, except if there is only one nominee for a

VOTES REQUIRED FOR
ELECTION

BALLOTS

position, the election may be held by acclamation.
13. Any National Board Development Committee member who is absent from two (2) consecutive

National Board Development Committee meetings in their entirety without good cause, acceptable

REMOVAL FROM
COMMITTEE

to the National Board Development Committee Chair, upon recommendation of the National Board
Development Committee to the National Board of Directors, shall be removed from the National
Board Development Committee by a majority vote of the National Board members present and
voting at any regular meeting of the National Board of Directors. Further, upon recommendation of
the National Board Development Committee to the National Board of Directors, a National Board
Development Committee member may be removed with or without cause by a three-fourths vote of
the total number of the National Board of Directors.

ARTICLE xm

PARTIAL TERMS

PARTIAL TERMS

A person who has served more than half of a specific term, as that specific term is set forth in the
Constitution or Bylaws, shall be considered to have served the full term.

ARTICLE XIV

FINANCE

FINANCE

1. Contributions for the purposes of this corporation shall be collected only as authorized by the

CONTRIBUTIONS

National Council or the National Board of Directors.

2. Debts of the corporation shall be incurred only as directed by resolution of the National Council or

DEBTS

the National Board of Directors.

3. The corporation shall not be liable for the debts of any local council or other unit holding a creden-

LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY

tial or any group of members of the Movement, or any representative of any such unit or group, or any
representative of this corporation unless incurred by resolution of the National Council or National
Board of Directors.
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INSIGNIA
TREFOIL, BADGES,
INSIGNIA & UNIFORMS

ARTICLE XV

INSIGNIA

The official emblem of the Girl Scout Movement in the United States is the trefoil. The badges,
insignia, and uniforms of Girl Scouts of the United States of America shall be protected to the fullest
extent possible and shall be made available to and used only by members registered with Girl Scouts
of the United States of America, or persons authorized by the National Board of Directors.

BYLAWS

ADOPTION

AMENDMENTS
VOTE BY NATIONAL
COUNCIL
RECOMMENDATION BY
NATIONAL BOARD

ARTICLE XVI

BYLAWS

The National Council or the National Board of Directors shall have power to adopt Bylaws not inconsistent with this Constitution, the Congressional Charter, or other applicable laws.

ARTICLE XVII

AMENDMENTS

This Constitution may be amended by a two-thirds vote of those present and voting at any session
of the National Council, provided that the National Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, shall have
deemed the proposed amendment appropriate as an amendment and provided that it shall have
been included in the cal I of the session together with the National Board's recommendation thereon.

AMENDMENT TO AN
AMENDMENT

An amendment to an amendment properly before any session of the National Council may be made
by a majority vote of those present and voting in accordance with the rules governing the session,
provided the proposed amendment thereto does not alter the intent or increase the scope of the
amendment acted upon by the National Board of Directors.

14

Exhibit 3, Page 9 of 9

Suellen Nelles
From: Suellen Nelles [r:D_§Jlt:Q.:i;:_i;:Q@g~ak.o_rg]
Sent: Wednesday, February 17, 201611:17 PM
To: Leung, Nhadine; Kathy Hopinkah Kannan; GSBoardOffice
Subject: RE: Request for membership dues increase historical data
Thank you Nhadine for this information. tam surprised that GS USA doesn't have readily available the minutes of the
National Council Session as a matter of record-keeping. If someone asked me for my board minutes from 1956, t could
readily provide those as it is law that those records are kept indefinitely. I would request again the minutes from the
National Council Sessions that are not too much trouble to ascertain.
Ms. Hannan,
In response to the board vote in January to raise membership dues by $10 starting in 2017, I assert, as a National
Delegate, your decision is counter to the GS USA Constitution. My council wants the GS USA board to rescind that
decision and propose an increase to the NCS delegates at the 2017 convention. You need to read the Constitution Article
V, Section 5 and the clarity from the 2008 NCS delegates. I was there and remember dearly the Amendment that was
added back to the language that GSUSA was trying so hard to omit, "Decision on annual membership dues shall require
a majority of votes cast." GSUSA made a case for striking that language and giving the membership dues authority to the
GSUSA board and that was rejected. I would like an explanation from the GSUSA board as to why you are denying
democratic process and the words of the Blue Book that still give the dues setting authority to the NCS delegates.
In the board's rationale at the 2008 convention . you assert "to the extent provided in the constitution and the bylaws,
(the) board of directors has the pDwers of the Council and can manage the activities of the corporation between
meetings of the Council," according to the Slue Book. TO THE EXTENT PROVIDED BY THE CONSTITUTION AND THE
BYLAWS is the key wording. According to Article V, Section 5 of the Constitution, the NCS delegates vote on membership
dues. The Constitution does not provide the power for the GSUSA board of directors to make the decision on
membership dues. You would need a constitutional amendment to have that power and in 2008 the delegates took that
away from you.

This needs to be discussed at the council level AND this needs to be discussed at the NCS delegate level. You have over
extended your power in voting for a membership dues increase to take effect in 2017 and f also argue that your last
decision to increase dues from $12 to $15 is also in question. As you know, an increase in membership dues is striking a
cord with current CEOs at this turbulent time. Councils have absorbed as much financial burden as they possibly can
while membership continues its freefall. You are pushing this organization into a financial crisis and much more needs to
be discussed openly. Our council for one will not ride this ship all the way to the bottom.
Suellen Nelles
Executive Director
Farthest North Girl Scout Council
431 Old Steese Highway, Suite 100
Fairbanks, AK 99701
907-456-4782, 907-799-1612
ceo@gsak.org

Girl Scouts - Inspiring Today's Girls and TomoITOw 's Leaders
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girl scouts
farthest north council
August 12, 2016

Fnrthest North

Girl Scout Council

Kathy Hopinkah-Hannan, Chairman of the Board
Girl Scouts of the USA

431 Old Steese Hwy
Suite100
Fairbanks, AK 99701
t 907-456-4 782
f 907-452-2320

420 Fifth Avenue

New York, NY 10018
KPMGLLP
200 E Randolph Street, #5500
Chicago, IL 60601

fairbanksgirlscouts.org

CONFIDENTIAL

Individual GSUSA Board Members
(Attached Mailing List)
Re: Board's Improper Dues Increases and Resulting $30,000,ooo+ Liability

Dear Ms. Hopinkah-Hannan and Board Members:
I am writing on behalf of my council and my board to address a serious misuse of
authority by the GSUSA Board of Directors in connection with the membership dues collected
by GSUSA. We have had informal conversations with the leadership of other councils on this
topic and all are in agreement that corrective action must immediately be undertaken by the
GSUSA Board. We are sending this letter in confidence to provide the Board an opportunity to
correct this problem and, hopefully, to avoid the enormous liability that the Board's actions have
created for the Board members and the entire organization.

It appears the GSUSA Board has been seriously misinformed and misled by GSUSA
executives as to the Board's proper authority. As a resul~ the Board has allowed itself to initiate
membership dues increases that, per the Constitution, can only be initiated by the National
Council.

With the recent announcement that the Board intends to bypass the National Council and
initiate a $10.00 per member dues increase, the Board is once again exercising an authority it
does not possess under the Constitution. Not only does this represent a serious interference wi~
and deprivation of, the governance authority resting solely in the National Council, it creates a
massive liability that GSUSA simply cannot afford to impose upon the organization.
The Constitution states that the National Council alone can establish the requirements for
certificates of membership and other credentials. Const. at Art. VITI, Sect. 1 ("The National
Council shall establish requirements for certificates of membership ... and all other
credentials.") The National Council, not the Board, is charged with establishing the requirements
for credentials at its sessions. Const. at Art. V, Sect 2. And, with specific reference to
membership dues, the Constitution mandates that "[dJecisions on membership dues shall require
a majority of votes cast" by the members of the National Council. Const. at Art. V, Sect. 5. The
Board's sole authority in this area is to administer the requirements established by the National
Council. Const. at ~ VIlI, Sect. 2. And while the Board can establish standards, procedures,
Inspiring Today's Girls and Tornorrow's Leaders
Exhibit 5, Page 1 of 5

and interpretations of the National Council's requirements, those functions must be consistent

with the requirements established by the National Council. Const. at Art. VIII, Sect. 2. To assist
the Board members who may not have a working knowJedge of these various provisions, we are
enclosing them "'ith this letter.
We don't know what advice the GSUSA Board may have been given, but the
Constitution is absolutely clear: the National Council alone can make decisions on membership
dues.
Of course, only the National Council can amend the Constitution. Const. at Art. XVII;

Congressional Charter at Section 80303(a){2). In 2008, GSUSA's Board submitted a proposal to
the National Council that would have eliminated the requirement in Article V, Section 5 of the
Constitution that dues increases be approved by a majority vote of the National Council. The
National Council rejected that proposal and through amendment affirmatively voted to retain the
Constitution's requirement that dues increases have the assent of a majority of members voting at
the National Council session. The retained authority of the National Council to establish
membership dues under the Constitution could not have been expressed and affirmed more
clearly.
Yet, in 2012, apparently with the seriously flawed advice ofits executives, the Board
independently instituted a $3.00 per member annual dues increase which first took effect in the
2013 membership year. This dues increase was never addressed by the National Council, let
alone approved by a majority of its members. The dues increase was instituted by the Board in
direct violation of the Constitution and without any authority.
This unauthorized exercise of authority by the Board has serious consequences. First, Girl
Scouts of the USA is a member-controlled organization; one ultimately under the control of the
democratically elected delegates to the National Council. The Board's unilateral increase in
membership dues constitutes a gross usurpation of power vested solely in the National Council.
The Board needs to recognize this gross error and undo it. The Board needs to make it right.
If doing the right thing is not. alone, sufficient incentive, then the Board needs to further
consider the extraordinary liability it has created for itself and the organization. The $3.00 per
member dues increase instituted in 2013 was without authority. Yet, GS USA has required all of
the councils to collect those unauthorized dues from all of their members. The councils have
collected those unauthorized dues and passed all of them on to GSUSA. With roughly two and
one half million members, GS USA has been collecting more than $7,500,000 per year in
unauthorized dues. Through the upcoming 2016-17 membership year, GSUSA will have
collected more than $30,000,000 in unauthorized dues. If the proposed dues increase of$10.00
per member is instituted by the Board for the 2017-18 membership year and beyond, it will result
in an additional $25,000,000 per year in dues that GSUSA will be extracting from its
unsuspecting members without authority. Total unauthorized dues, starting in 2017, will
skyrocket to $32,500,000 per year.

The Board needs to move swiftly to rectify this situation. In the hands of the states'
attorneys general, GSUSA could consider itselflucky if it got off with reimbursing its members
the tens of millions of dollars in unauthorized dues and paying a small fine for what would very
likely be presented as a mass consumer fraud by a nonprofit. A less lucky outcome-including
the additional payment of attorneys' fees and punitive damages--would be if knowledge of this
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unauthorized activity finds its way into the hands of a class action attorney. Under either
scenario, the financial and reputational harm to Girl Scouting would be devastating.
While we would like to believe that the Board will be motivated to do the right thing for
its own sake, we hope the recognition of the financial debacle the Board's unauthorized conduct
has created will cause the Board to get to the same place.
The Board needs to make this right, and it needs to make it right by promptly setting into
motion appropriate procedures at the Board's upcoming meeting in mid-September. We believe
the appropriate steps to take would include calling a special session of the National Council
pursuant to Article V, Section 3 of the Constitution. At that session, the Board needs to
acknowledge its prior, unauthorized conduct. We suspect that ifthe Board makes that
acknowledgement sincerely and with an honest explanation of the proper roles that the Board
and National Council play under the Constitution in establishing membership dues and other
membership requirements, the National Council could be persuaded to retroactively approve the
prior, unauthorized dues increase of$3.00 per member. The Board's proposed, unauthorized
dues increase of $10.00 per member must, of course, be withdrawn. If the Board believes a dues
increase-of any amount-is in the best interest of the organization, then the Board needs to
present the appropriate action to the National Council for its consideration at a properly called
session.
We hope for, and expect, the Board to do the right thing. As a small council with limited
resources, we do not seek to take on the mantle of the protector of the National Council and all
members' abused interests. Yet, if the Board does not make things right after now being alerted
to the problem, we will nonetheless give serious thought to taking on that role-alone or joined
with sister councils-as a necessary obligation to protect our members and the organization. At a
minimum, however, Farthest North Girl Scouts Council \\>ill not collect, and we will not require
the members in our council to continue to pay, unauthorized dues. We \\>ill not participate in that
unauthorized conduct.
land the Board of Farthest North Girl Scouts Council sincerely hope you accept and act
upon this letter in the spirit with which it is intended: to give the present GSUSA Board an
opportunity to rectify the seriously flawed and wrongful action taken by an earlier board and its
members who must have been misled as to the authority they possessed to increase dues without
National Council approval. We look forward to learning from you that this matter has been
prominently placed on the agenda for the Board's upcoming meeting. And, even more, we look
forward to learning from you promptly after the meeting that the Board has instituted swift
action to bring the unauthorized activity to an end.
Sincerely,

uss Sharpton

Board Chair
Farthest North Girl Scout Council
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CONSTITUTION OF GIRL SCOUTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA {selected provisions)
ARTICLE V SESSIONS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL

2. The National Council at its sessions shall hold elections, amend the Constitution, establish requirements for credentials, and shall determine the general lines of policy of the Girl Scout Movement and
program by considering and acting upon proposals directed toward the fostering and improvement of
Girl Scouting, by receiving and acting upon reports of its National Board of Directors, and by giving
guidance to the National Board upon general lines of direction of the Movement and program.
3. Special sessions of the National Council shall be called by the President upon written request of a
majority of the members of the National Board of Directors or twenty percent {20%) of the membership
of the National Council, which shall represent at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the councils
chartered by GSUSA. The purpose of the session shall be stated in the written request.
The purpose of the special session shall be limited to legitimate business of the National Council, and no
other business shall be transacted except that for which the session has been specifically called.
Notice of the special session, stating the time, place, and specific purpose, shall be mailed not less than
30 days before the session to each local council, each delegate from USA Girl Scouts Overseas, each
member of the National Board of Directors and the National Board Development Committee, each Past
President, and each member elected by the National Council who is entitled to vote at such session.
4••.•

S. Each member present in person at the National Council shall be entitled to one (1) vote. Decision on
membership dues shall require a majority of votes cast. All matters shall be determined by a majority
vote of the members present and voting, unless otherwise provided by this Constitution.

ARTICLE VIII

CREDENTIALS

1. The National Council shall establish requirements for certificates of membership, local council
charters, and all other credentials.
2. The National Board of Directors shall administer the requirements for the credentials established by
the National Council. and may establish standards and issue standards, procedures, and interpretations
regarding such requirements provided such standards, procedures, and interpretations are consistent
with the requirements established by the National Council.

ARTICLE XVII

AMENDMENTS

This Constitution may be amended by a two-thirds vote of those present and voting at any session of the
National Council. provided that the National Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, shall have deemed
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the proposed amendment appropriate as an amendment and provided that it shall have been included
in the call of the session together with the National Board's recommendation thereon. An amendment
to an amendment properly before any session of the National Council may be made by a majority vote
of those present and voting in accordance with the rules governing the session, provided the proposed
amendment thereto does not alter the intent or increase the scope of the amendment acted upon by
the National Soard of Directors.

CONGRESSIONAL CHARTER OF GIRL SCOUTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (selected provisions)

§ 80303. GOVERNING BODY
(a) National Council.-

(1} There shall be a National Council of Girl Scouts. The number, qualifications, and term of office of
members of the Council are as provided in the constitution of the corporation, except that members of
the Council must be citizens of the United States.
(2) The Council may adopt and amend a constitution and bylaws and elect a board of directors, officers,
and agents.
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girl scouts
farthest north council
September 8, 2016
Sylvia Acevedo, Interim CEO
Girl Scouts of the USA
420 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10018

Farthest North
Girl scout Council
431 Old Steese H\vy

Suite100
Fairbanks, AK 99701
t 907-456-4782"
f 907-452-2320

fairbanksgirlscouts.org

Re: Board's Improper Dues Increases and Resulting $30,000,000+ Liability
Dear Ms. Acevedo:
I am writing in response to your letter of August 24, 2016. Since your letter is responding
to my letter of August 12, 2016, which was directed to Ms. Hopinkah-Hannan and the members
of the National Board, I am copying those members to make sure they fully appreciate the lack
of proper guidance they are receiving from GSUSA staff on this matter.
I and my board are well aware that in a 2008 Convention Workbook the GSUSA staff
expressed its opinion that the National Board was authorized to usurp the National Council's sole
authority for establishing membership dues. GSUSA staff was wrong then. It is wrong now.
Nothing in the Congressional Charter or GSUSA Constitution supports that interpretation. It
seems too obvious to have to state it here, but the staff's opinions in a "workbook" obviously do
not trump the very clear terms of our organization's Charter and Constitution. The workbook's
reference to Boy Scouts and AARP that you quote is silly. The boards of those organizations do
not exercise authority over dues because they think ifs a good idea. They do so because they are
authorized to do so by their organizations' governing documents. GSUSA's governing
documents do not vest such authority in the Board, no matter how bad an idea you may think that
IS.

We assume the Board will exercise its fiduciary responsibilities with utmost care in light
of the extraordinary liability that has been created by past errors. In exercising that responsibility,
it is incumbent upon the Board to seek the advice and counsel of an independent authority on
how one properly reads and interprets these types of governance documents. We submit that no
independent attorney practiced in corporate governance would ever reach the conclusion
expressed in the 2008 workbook and that, apparently, you are expressing now. If, today, the
Board is relying upon the same individual or individuals whose mistaken advice was relied upon
eight years ago, then the Board is not exercising its independent judgment and fiduciary
responsibilities prudently. The Board is duty bound to take a fresh look at this with a fresh set of

Inspiring Today's Girls and Tomorrow's Leaders
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eyes; not with the eyes of one whose motivation is to obscure or perpetuate an eight year old

mistake.
As I said in my letter of August 12, we hope for, and expect, the Board to do the right
thing. We look forward to hearing that the Board is initiating the remedial steps suggested in my
prior letter.
Very truly yours,

~

fuss

Sharpton

Board Chair
Farthest North Girl Scout Council
Encl. (Letter dated August 24, 2016 from S. Acevedo)
Cc. Members of the GSUSA National Board of Directors
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girl scouts
November lr1', 2016
Girt Scoll1s of the USA
420 Flfth AW!ntlt:
riewYmk. NY tOOJS-2798
Jl J-&52-801}0
~it!5cnuts.org

Farthest North Girl Scout Council
Attn: Suellen Nelles, CEO & Russ Sharpton, Board Chair
431 Old Steese Hwy, Suite 100
Fairbanks, AK 99701
Dear Suellen and Russ,
I write to follow up on my letter of November 3, 2016. GSUSA has still not received the full
membership dues payment for Transmittal #25 for 285 girls and 97 adult memberships. The
membership dues for those 382 total members should total $5,730; your transmittal was
short $1,146. We again request that the full amount be submitted to GSUSA
immediately. Please consider this further written notice that Farthest North is in violation
of its obligations under its charter and the Blue Book.
As stated in my earlier correspondence, until GSUSA receives full payment those individuals
cannot be processed as Girl Scout members for the FY2017 membership year. As such, we
expect that you will inform them that they should not be participating in Girl Scouts
activities as they are not registered as Girl Scouts or covered by Girl Scouts accident and
activity insurance. Please send me copies of those communications.
We look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Lisa Margosian
Chief Customer Officer
Girl Scouts of the USA

tfl: 212-852-5636

Girl Scouting builds girls of courage, confidence, and character,
who mal\e the world a better place.
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December 14, 2016

girl scouts

farthest north council

Sylvia Acevedo, Interim CEO
Girl Scouts of the USA
420 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10018

Farthest North

Girl Scout Council
431 Old Steese Hwy

Suiteroo

Re: Payment of unauthorized dues

Dear Ms. Acevedo:

Fairbanks, AK 99701
t 907-456-4782
f 907-452-2320

fairbanksgirlscouts.org

As you are aware, Farthest North Girl Scout Council has not been forwarding to GSUSA
the ammmt of$3.00 per member due to our opinion that that portion of the dues has not been
authorized by the National Council. The basis for our opinion has been clearly stated in our prior
communications. Nonetheless, GSUSA has insisted that these unauthorized funds be
immediately delivered to GSUSA. Because these dues have not been authorized, GSUSA is
demanding Farthest North to participate in this unauthorized and V..Tongful activity against our
members. We will not willingly participate in this improper conduct
Farthest North has retained these funds with the intention of returning them to the
members once GSUSA withdrew its demand for payment. GSUSA has refused to withdraw its
demand. Indeed, in its recent letters to Farthest North, and in our telephone conversation on
December 13, 2016, GSUSA has made clear that if Farthest North does not immediately forward
these unauthorized funds to GSUSA that GSUSA will punish our members by refusing to
register them, refusing to allow them to participate in Girl Scout activities, and refusing to cover
them with insurance when participating in Girl Scout activities, thus placing them at great risk.
Together with these threats to our members, GSUSA has threatened prompt and harsh action
against the Council, including the loss of its members and its charter.
In tight of these coercive threats, Farthest North is left with no immediately viable option
but to capitulate.
Enclosed is our remittance in the amount of the dues that have been withheld: $1, 146,
$1,350 and $465. We are making this payment W1der protest and duress, and with full reservation
of Farthest North's right to seek reimbursement of these funds and all other funds that have been
improperly demanded by, and paid to, GSUSA.
Please immediately confirm receipt of this payment, and confirm that each of the
members associated with these funds has been registered by GSUSA.

Sincerely,

Inspiring Today's Girls and Tomorrow's Leaders

~
Board Chair
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